IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

CHARLES HUDEC,)	
)	No. S213003
Petitioner,)	
)	Court of Appeal
vs.	No. G047465
SUPERIOR COURT OF ORANGE)	(Superior Court
COUNTY,	Case No. C-47710)
)	
Respondent,)	
PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,)	SUPREME COURT: FILED
Real Party in Interest.)	NOV 2 5 2013
	Frank A. McGuire Clerk
	Deputy

OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF ORANGE COUNTY THE HONORABLE KAZUHARU MAKINO, JUDGE PRESIDING

ISSUE PRESENTED

Does Penal Code section 1026.5, subdivision (b)(7), give a person who was committed after being found not guilty of criminal charges by reason of insanity the right to refuse to testify in a proceeding to extend that civil commitment?

BACKGROUND

Defendant, a paranoid schizophrenic, killed his father in May 1981 after hearing voices telling him he had to commit the killing to please God and avoid becoming homosexual. (*Hudec v. Superior Court* (Jul. 26, 2013, G047465) ___ Cal.App.4th ___ [slip opn. at p. 2].)¹ The parties stipulated defendant was not guilty by reason of insanity and he was committed. (*Ibid.*)

¹ Further citations to the opinion will be to the slip opinion.

In March 2012, the People filed the latest petition to extend defendant's commitment to Patton Hospital under section Penal Code section 1026.5. (Hudec v. Superior Court, supra, G047465, slip opn. at p. 2.) The trial court granted the People's in limine motion to compel defendant's testimony at trial. (Hudec v. Superior Court, supra, G047465, slip opn. at pp. 2-3.) The Court of Appeal granted defendant's petition for a writ of prohibition or mandate. (Id. at p. 19.) This Court granted the People's petition for review.

ARGUMENT

A. PENAL CODE SECTION 1026.5, SUBDIVISION (B)(7) CODIFIES THE APPLICATION OF CONSTITUTIONAL PROCEDURAL RIGHTS MANDATED BY JUDICIAL DECISION

A defendant committed to a state hospital after being found not guilty by reason of insanity ("NGI") may not be kept in custody longer than the maximum state prison term applicable to the underlying offense. (Pen. Code, § 1026.5, subd. (a)(1).)² The district attorney may petition to extend the commitment where the person "by reason of a mental disease, defect, or disorder represents a substantial danger of physical harm to others." (Pen. Code, § 1026.5, subd. (b)(1).)

² All further statutory references are to the Penal Code unless otherwise noted.

Commitment proceedings under section 1026.5 are civil in nature, not criminal, and neither the federal nor the state constitutional right against self-incrimination applies to such proceedings. (*Allen v. Illinois* (1986) 478 U.S. 364, 374-375 [92 L.Ed.2d 296, 106 S.Ct. 2988]; *People v. Allen* (2008) 44 Cal.4th 843, 860; *Cramer v. Tyars* (1979) 23 Cal.3d 131, 134.) Section 1026.5, subdivision (b)(7) ("1026.5(b)(7)") provides, however:

The person shall be entitled to the rights guaranteed under the federal and State Constitutions for criminal proceedings. All proceedings shall be in accordance with applicable constitutional guarantees.

In our case, the court held section 1026.5(b)(7) confers upon the defendant the right to refuse to testify at his civil commitment proceeding. (*Hudec v. Superior Court, supra,* G047465, slip opn. at p. 14.) The court found section 1026.5(b)(7)'s language confers *all*

"[T]he rights guaranteed under the federal and state constitutions for criminal proceedings, not "some of the rights," or "the due process rights required by judicial decision in commitment extension proceedings."

(Hudec v. Superior Court, supra, G047465, slip opn. at p. 15, emphasis in original.)

The court erred. Section 1026.5(b)(7) does not include "all" constitutional rights from criminal proceedings. Caselaw, common sense and legislative developments since section 1026.5(b)(7) was enacted show it

merely codifies the application of constitutional procedural rights mandated by judicial decision.

1. Court of Appeal Decisions Uniformly Hold Penal Code Section 1026.5(b)(7) Does Not Include "All" Constitutional Rights

In *People v. Lopez* (2006) 137 Cal.App.4th 1099, the court found that, in enacting section 1026.5, the Legislature did not intend to provide persons subject to civil commitment proceedings with a broad right to refuse to testify. (*Id.* at pp. 1113-1116.) Rather, as in civil proceedings generally, the person may invoke his right not to answer questions that might incriminate him in a future prosecution, but he may not refuse to testify. (*Id.* at p. 1107.)

The Lopez court cited People v. Henderson (1981) 117 Cal. App. 3d 740, which considered the defendant's claim that he was entitled to the privilege against self-incrimination under former Welfare and Institutions Code section 6316.2, subdivision (e).

As in section 1026.5(b)(7), that section provided,

The patient shall be entitled to the rights guaranteed under the Federal and State Constitutions for criminal proceedings. All proceedings shall be in accordance with applicable constitutional guarantees.

(Former Welf. & Inst. Code, § 6316.2, subd. (e), repealed by Stats. 1981, ch. 982, § 2.)

In *Henderson*, the court concluded the language did "not extend the protection of the constitutional privileges against self-incrimination to testimonial communications which are not incriminatory." (*People v. Henderson, supra*, 117 Cal.App.3d 740, 748.) Instead, the Legislature merely intended to provide the constitutional protections mandated by judicial decision, i.e., the rights to proof beyond a reasonable doubt and a unanimous verdict, not additional rights such as the privilege against self-incrimination. (*Ibid.*)

The reasoning in *Henderson* was applied ten years later in *People v. Superior Court (Williams)* (1991) 233 Cal.App.3d 477. In that case, the court held the double jeopardy prohibitions of the federal and state constitutions do not apply to proceedings under section 1026.5(b)(7). (*People v. Superior Court (Williams), supra*, 233 Cal.App.3d 477, 488.) The court concluded section 1026.5(b)(7),

[M]erely codifies the application of constitutional protections to extension hearings mandated by judicial decision. It does not extend the protection of constitutional provisions which bear no relevant relationship to the proceedings. [Citation.]

(People v. Superior Court (Williams), supra, 233 Cal.App.3d 477, 488.) The court reasoned that,

[D]ouble jeopardy provisions ... have no meaningful application to extension proceedings [that] are civil in nature, are for the purpose of treatment, not punishment, and are not an adjudication of a criminal act or offense,

(People v. Superior Court (Williams), supra, 233 Cal.App.3d 477, 488.)

In *People v. Powell* (2004) 114 Cal. App.4th 1153, the court agreed with *Williams* that section 1026.5(b)(7) does not incorporate all constitutional procedural safeguards and held it did not include the right to personally waive jury trial applicable in criminal cases. (*People v. Powell, supra*, 114 Cal. App.4th 1153, 1158-1159.) Common sense dictates that an insane person "should not be able to veto the informed tactical decision of counsel [to waive jury]." (*Id.* at p. 1158.)

In *People v. Haynie* (2004) 116 Cal.App.4th 1224, the court agreed with *Williams* and *Powell* that section 1026.5(b)(7) does not include all possible constitutional rights. (*People v. Haynie, supra,* 116 Cal.App.4th 1224, 1229-1230.) *Haynie* agreed section 1026.5(b)(7) "does not extend the 'protection of constitutional provisions which bear no relevant relationship to the proceedings." (*Id.* at p. 1229.)³

The *Haynie* court, however, misunderstood this Court's decision in *Cramer v. Tyars* (1979) 23 Cal.3d 131 and held section 1026.5(b)(7) conferred upon the defendant the right to refuse to testify at his extended commitment hearing. (*People v. Haynie, supra,* 116 Cal.App.4th 1224, 1228-1230.) We discuss *Cramer's* application to our case in section B, below.

Our court's opinion runs contrary to *Lopez*, *Henderson*, *Williams*, *Powell*, and *Haynie*. Those courts correctly determined the language in section 1026.5(b)(7) codifies the application of constitutional rights mandated by judicial decision. It does not include "all" constitutional rights guaranteed in criminal proceedings.

2. The Lower Court's Interpretation of Penal Code Section 1026.5(b)(7) Would Lead to Absurd Results

Our court's opinion runs contrary to a settled principle of statutory construction; namely, a statute's plain language should not be applied where it would lead to absurd consequences. "[T]he fundamental goal of statutory interpretation is to ascertain and carry out the intent of the Legislature. [Citation.]" (*People v. Cruz* (1996) 13 Cal.4th 764, 782.) The Court first examines "the words of the statute[] giving them their usual and ordinary meaning. [Citations.]." (*People v. Flores* (2003) 30 Cal.4th 1059, 1063.)

"But '[i]t is a settled principle of statutory interpretation that language of a statute should not be given a literal meaning if doing so would result in absurd consequences which the Legislature did not intend.' [Citations.] Thus '[t]he intent prevails over the letter, and the letter will, if possible, be so read as to conform to the spirit of the act.' [Citation.] (People v. Pieters (1991) 52 Cal.3d 894, 898-899)"

(Whitman v. Superior Court (1991) 54 Cal.3d 1063, 1072, modifications in original.)

Our court's literal interpretation of section 1026.5(b)(7) would produce absurd consequences. In *Powell*, for example, the court noted the absurd consequences that would result from including the constitutional right to personally waive jury trial within section 1026.5(b)(7). "An insane person who is a 'substantial danger of physical harm to others' [citation] should not be able to veto the informed tactical decision of counsel." (*People v. Powell, supra*, 114 Cal.App.4th 1153, 1158.)

In *Powell*, the defendant was twice adjudged insane and state doctors had never indicated he had regained sanity. (*People v. Powell, supra*, 114 Cal.App.4th 1153, 1158.) The court questioned,

Can such a person intelligently invoke or waive the right to jury trial? Is such a person competent to meaningfully understand who should make the determination of whether his commitment should be extended?

(*Ibid.*) The court concluded, "[c]ommon sense dictates that appellant should not be able to veto his attorney's decision to waive jury." (*Ibid.*; see also *People v. Haynie, supra*, 116 Cal.App.4th 1224, 1229-1230 [citing the *Powell* court's conclusion with approval].)

In *Williams*, the court explained that the double jeopardy bar has no meaningful application to extended commitment proceedings because such proceedings do not adjudicate a criminal offense. (*People v. Superior Court (Williams)*, *supra*, 233 Cal.App.3d 477, 488; see also *People v. Juarez* (1986) 184 Cal.App.3d 570, 575 [ex post facto principles have no meaningful application because extended commitment proceedings do not disadvantage defendant in the determination of his criminal guilt].)

In *Henderson* the court found a similar inapplicability concerning the privilege against self-incrimination. The court concluded admitting the patient's statements to hospital staff during routine therapy sessions or daily activity was not proscribed by the privilege against self-incrimination. (*People v. Henderson, supra,* 117 Cal.App.3d 740, 747-748; see also *People v. Beard* (1985) 173 Cal.App.3d 1113, 1118-1119 [privilege against self-incrimination did not apply to statements made during court-ordered psychiatric exams because there was no evidence the questions sought to elicit information that could subject the defendant to criminal prosecution].)

The court's decision in our case leaves no room for common sense. It would mandate absurdity. It is contrary to legislative intent.

3. Legislative Developments Show Penal Code Section 1026.5(b)(7) Codifies Only Those Constitutional Procedural Rights Mandated by Judicial Decision

"[S]ection 1026.5 was enacted in 1979 as emergency legislation in response to this Court's decision in In re Moye [(1978) 22 Cal.3d 457]. (People v. Superior Court (Williams), supra, 233 Cal.App.3d 477, 487, footnote omitted.) Before Moye, persons could be held under section 1026 indefinitely. (People v. Superior Court (Williams), supra, 233 Cal.App.3d 477, 487) In Moye, the Court found persons committed under section 1026 were similarly situated to mentally disordered sex offenders ("MDSO") held under Welfare and Institutions Code section 6316. (In re Moye, supra, 22 Cal.3d 457, 466.) Because MDSO's commitment terms were limited, this Court held section 1026's indefinite commitment period violated equal protection. (Id. at p. 467.) In response, the Legislature quickly added section 1026.5 to provide for a maximum term of commitment and a procedure to extend a defendant's commitment. (People v. Superior Court (Williams), supra, 233 Cal.App.3d 477, 487.)

In so doing, the Legislature sought to overcome the equal protection problems noted in *Moye* and patterned section 1026.5 after the MDSO statutes. (*People v. Lopez, supra,* 137 Cal.App.4th 1099, 1114.) In pertinent part, section 1026(b)(7) includes identical language to Welfare and Institutions Code section 6316.2, subdivision (e). (*People v. Lopez, supra,* 137 Cal.App.4th 1099, 1114.)

This history is significant in light of the court's decision in *Henderson*. In April 1981, *Henderson* determined Welfare and Institutions Code section 6316.2, subdivision (e) does not include all constitutional rights. (*People v. Henderson, supra,* 117 Cal.App.3d 740, 747-748.) Rather, that section "codifies the application of constitutional protections to MDSO proceedings mandated by judicial decision [citations.]." (*Id.*, at p. 748.) Later that year, the Legislature repealed the MDSO statutes for future offenders – they would be handled under section 2684 – but left the procedures in place to govern those MDSO's convicted before the repeal. (*People v. Superior Court (Martin)* (1982) 132 Cal.App.3d 658, 662, citing Stats. 1981, ch. 928, §§ 3-4.) The

Legislature did not, however, amend Welfare and Institutions Code section 6316.2, subdivision (e) to countermand the court's interpretation in *Henderson*.⁴ When

"[a] statute has been construed by judicial decision, and that construction is not altered by subsequent legislation, it must be presumed that the Legislature is aware of the judicial construction and approves of it.' [Citation.]"

(People v. Meloney (2003) 30 Cal.4th 1145, 1161.)

Section 1026.5 has a similar history. In 1991, *Williams* noted the relationship between section 1026.5 and the MDSO statutes and, citing *Henderson*, concluded identical language in section 1026.5(b)(7) "merely codifies the application of constitutional protections ... mandated by judicial decision." (*People v. Superior Court (Williams)*, *supra*, 233 Cal.App.3d 477, 488.)

[T]wo years after *Williams* was decided, the Legislature amended section 1026.5 without modifying its language to overrule *Williams* or to state explicitly that an NGI committee has the criminal defendant's privilege not to testify.

(People v. Lopez, supra, 137 Cal.App.4th 1099, 1115.) It must be presumed

⁴ Senate Bill 278, which effected this change, was introduced on February 12, 1981. (Sen. Bill No. 278 (1981-1982 Reg. Sess.) as introduced Feb. 12, 1981.) As it worked its way through the Senate and the Assembly between April 20, 1981 and its approval by the Governor on September 27, 1981, it was read, amended and re-read multiple times. (Sen. Bill No. 278, approved by Governor, Sept. 27, 1981, Sen. Final Hist. (1981-1982 Reg. Sess.) p. 197.)

the Legislature approves of the judicial construction. (*People v. Lopez, supra*, 137 Cal.App.4th 1099, 1115, citing *People v. Meloney, supra*, 30 Cal.4th 1145, 1161.)

The history of Welfare and Institutions Code section 1801.5 further shows the Legislature's acceptance of the judicial construction of section 1026.5(b)(7). Welfare and Institutions Code section 1800 et seq. governs minors' extended commitment to the California Youth Authority. (*In re Anthony C.* (2006) 138 Cal.App.4th 1493, 1499.) In part, Welfare and Institutions Code section 1801.5 provides "[t]he person shall be entitled to *all* rights guaranteed under the federal and state constitutions in criminal proceedings." (Welf. & Inst. Code, § 1801.5, emphasis added.)

In Anthony C., the court contrasted Welfare and Institutions Code section 1801.5 with the MDSO statute and section 1026.5(b)(7). (In re Anthony C., supra, 138 Cal.App.4th 1493, 1512-1513.) The court noted that Welfare and Institutions Code section 1801.5 differs from the other statutes in that the Legislature included the word "all" in Welfare and Institutions Code section 1801.5. (In re Anthony C., supra, 138 Cal.App.4th 1493, 1513.) The court also noted that when the Legislature added the pertinent language to Welfare and Institutions Code section 1801.5 in 1984,

[T]he Legislature was not writing on a blank slate. The language in former section 6316.2, subdivision (e), [the MDSO statute], had been in effect for over five years and had been construed by *Henderson* three years earlier.

(In re Anthony C., supra, 138 Cal.App.4th 1493, 1513.) In addition, "[t]he same language was used in section 1026.5 when it was added to the Penal Code in 1979. [Citation.]" (In re Anthony C., supra, 138 Cal.App.4th 1493, 1513.)

In light of this history, the court concluded,

Had the Legislature intended to grant the same constitutional rights in section 1801.5 as it granted in former section 6316.2 and Penal Code section 1026.5, it would have used the same language.

(In re Anthony C., supra, 138 Cal.App.4th 1493, 1513; see also Joshua D. v. Superior Court (2007) 157 Cal.App.4th 549, 561 [distinguishing the judicial interpretations in Henderson and Williams, and their progeny, because neither the MDSO statute, nor section 1026.5(b)(7), "included the word 'all,' and that makes all the difference[]"].)

In other words, the Legislature did not intend to include "all" constitutional rights in section 1026.5(b)(7) when it granted civil committees "the rights guaranteed under the federal and State Constitutions for criminal proceedings." This language merely codifies the application of constitutional procedural rights mandated by judicial decision.

B. THE RIGHT NOT TO TESTIFY BEARS NO RELEVANT RELATIONSHIP TO PENAL CODE SECTION 1026.5's COMMITMENT PROCEEDINGS

Having shown section 1026.5(b)(7) does not include all constitutional rights for criminal proceedings, the remaining issue is whether it includes the right to refuse to testify. In *Williams*, the court determined section 1026.5 "does not extend the protection of constitutional provisions which bear no relevant relationship to the proceedings. [Citation.]" (*People v. Superior Court (Williams), supra,* 233 Cal.App.3d 477, 488.) The courts in *Lopez* and *Haynie* agreed. (*People v. Lopez, supra,* 137 Cal.App.4th 1099, 1115; *People v. Haynie, supra,* 116 Cal.App.4th 1224, 1229.)

The court in *Lopez* relied upon this Court's decision in *Cramer* to conclude the right to refuse to testify bears no relevant relationship to civil commitment proceedings under section 1026.5. (*People v. Lopez, supra*, 137 Cal.App.4th 1099, 1115.) The court's reliance upon *Cramer* was sound.

In *Cramer*, this Court held there is no constitutional right not to testify at a civil commitment proceeding for a mentally impaired person. (*Cramer v. Tyars, supra*, 23 Cal.3d 131, 137.) The right not to testify was designed "to assure that the *criminal* justice system remains accusatorial, not inquisitorial. [Citations.]" (*Id.* at pp. 137-138, emphasis in original.) It bears no relevant relationship to civil commitment proceedings. (*Ibid.*)⁵ Applying the privilege to a civil commitment proceeding "would contravene both the language and purpose of the privilege." (*Cramer v. Tyars, supra*, 23 Cal.3d 131, 138.)⁶

On the other hand, the ability to hear and observe the person's testimony in a civil commitment hearing is particularly helpful.

⁵ The defendant, of course, maintains his right not to give evidence that would tend to incriminate him in any criminal activity and which could subject him to criminal prosecution. (*Cramer v. Tyars, supra,* 23 Cal.3d 131, 138.)

⁶ Seven years after this Court's statement in *Cramer*, the United States Supreme Court echoed a similar opinion in *Allen*. The court reiterated that "[t]he privilege against self-incrimination ... is not designed to enhance the reliability of the factfinding determination;" (*Allen v. Illinois, supra, 478* U.S. 364, 375, citation omitted.) The court also noted

[[]T]he State takes the quite plausible view that denying the evaluating psychiatrist the opportunity to question persons alleged to be sexually dangerous would *decrease* the reliability of a finding of sexual dangerousness.

⁽Id. at pp. 374-375, emphasis in original.)

Reason and common sense suggest that it is appropriate ... that a jury be permitted fully to observe the person sought to be committed, and to hear him speak and respond in order that it may make an informed judgment as to the level of his mental and intellectual functioning.

(Cramer v. Tyars, supra, 23 Cal.3d 131, 139.)

Observation of

[S]uch evidence may be analogized to the disclosure of physical as opposed to testimonial evidence and may in fact be the most reliable proof and probative indicator of the person's present mental condition. [Citations.]

(Cramer v. Tyars, supra, 23 Cal.3d 131, 139.)

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