COPY

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

CHARLES HUDEC

Petitioner,

V.

SUPERIOR COURT OF ORANGE COUNTY,

Respondent,

PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

Real Party in Interest.

No. S213003

Court of Appeal No. G047465

O.C. Sup. Ct. No. C-47710

SUPREME COURT FILED

JAN 23 2014

Frank A. WicGuire Clerk

Deputy

ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF ORANGE COUNTY, THE HONORABLE KAZUHARU MAKINO, JUDGE PRESIDING

FRANK OSPINO
Public Defender
JEAN WILKINSON
Chief Deputy Public Defender
MARK S. BROWN
Assistant Public Defender
*CHRISTOPHER D. MCGIBBONS
Senior Deputy Public Defender
State Bar No. 204981
14 Civic Center Plaza
Santa Ana, California 92701-4029

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Petitioner contends that through the enactment of section 1026.5, subdivision (b)(7), the Legislature afforded him with the absolute right not to be called as a witness and not to testify at his recommitment trial. Specifically, Petitioner relies upon the plain meaning of section 1026.5, subdivision (b)(7)'s language, wherein it states in pertinent part that: "[t]he person shall be entitled to the rights guaranteed under the federal and State Constitutions for criminal proceedings. All proceedings shall be in

¹ All further references are to the Penal Code unless otherwise noted.

accordance with applicable constitutional guarantees." (Pen. Code, § 1026.5, subd. (b)(7).)

ARGUMENT

I.

Petitioner's Right Not to be Compelled to Testify Emanates From Penal Code Section 1026.5, Subdivision (b)(7).

The privilege against self-incrimination flows from the Fifth Amendment of the United States Constitution and article I, section 15 of the California Constitution and encompasses "two separate and distinct testimonial privileges." (*Cramer v. Tyars* (1979) 23 Cal.3d 131, 137 (*Cramer*).) In any proceeding, whether civil or criminal, "a witness has the right to decline to answer questions which may tend to incriminate him in criminal activity. [Citation]." (*Ibid.*) Additionally, "[i]n a criminal matter a defendant has an absolute right not to be called as a witness and not to testify." (*Ibid.*)

Nevertheless, proceedings to extend the commitment of an individual pursuant to section 1026.5 are essentially civil in nature and are designed towards addressing treatment for the individual versus punishment. (*People v. Beard* (1985) 173 Cal.App.3d 1113, 1118; *People v. Williams* (1991) 233 Cal.App.3d 477, 485 (*Williams*).) Generally, "[t]he privilege of a criminal defendant not to testify has not been extended to civil committees." (*Joshua D. v. Superior Court* (2007) 157 Cal.App.4th

549, 555 (Joshua D.); Allen v. Illinois (1986) 478 U.S. 364, 374-375 [92 L.Ed.2d 296, 106 S.Ct. 2988,] [holding that proceedings pursuant to the Illinois Sexually Dangerous Persons Act, although similar to criminal proceedings, were essentially civil in nature. As such, the Fifth Amendment's privilege against self-incrimination did not apply].)

However, as this Court is aware, "[t]he absence of a constitutional privilege not to testify in civil commitment proceedings does not, of course, prevent the Legislature from affording that right by statute." (*Joshua D., supra,* 157 Cal.App.4th at p. 555; see also *Conservatorship of Bones* (1987) 189 Cal.App.3d 1010, 1017 (*Bones*) [stating that the legislature is entitled to enact declaratory legislation].) As such, in order to determine if Petitioner is correct, one needs only to look at the plain meaning of the language of the statute.

II.

Statutory Construction and Legislative Intent.

In construing a statute such as section 1026.5, specifically subdivision (b)(7), the court's task is to attempt to ascertain the intent of the Legislature. (*People v. Albillar* (2010) 51 Cal.4th 47, 54.) In doing so, the court first examines the words of the statute, viewing them in their statutory context and giving them their ordinary and usual meaning because the plain language of a statute is usually the most reliable indicator of the Legislature's intent. (*Id.* at p. 55.) If the language of the statute is

unambiguous, the plain meaning controls, and the court need not resort to principles of statutory construction or extrinsic sources to determine legislative intent. (*Ibid.*) On the contrary, if the words of the statute are ambiguous, the court "may consider a variety of extrinsic aids, including legislative history, the statute's purpose, and public policy." (*People v. Arias* (2008) 45 Cal.4th 169, 177.) Whenever possible, significance should be attributed to every word and phrase of a statute and the court must take caution to avoid a construction making some words surplusage. (*People v. Rodriguez* (2012) 55 Cal.4th 1125, 1131.)

Furthermore, in order to give true meaning to the words in question, the court must consider the statute as a whole, harmonizing the various elements by considering each clause and section in the context of the overall statutory framework. (*People v. Jenkins* (1995) 10 Cal.4th 234, 246.) Moreover, the court shall adopt a construction that best reflects the apparent intent of the Legislature, with a view to promoting the purpose of the statute and avoiding absurd consequences. (*Ibid.*) However, "[t]he literal meaning of the words of a statute may be disregarded to avoid absurd results [Citation.]" (*County of Sacramento v. Hickman* (1967) 66 Cal.2d 841, 849, fn. 6; see also *Wells Fargo Bank v. Superior* Court (1991) 53 Cal.3d 1082, 1098.) As will be discussed further herein, "[t]his exception should be used most sparingly by the judiciary and only in extreme cases else [the court violates] the separation of powers principle of

government." (Simon Unzueta v. Ocean View School Dist. (1992) 6
Cal.App.4th 1689, 1698 (Unzueta); Cal. Const., art. III, § 3.)

Here, the language of section 1026.5, subdivision (b)(7) is clear. The statute states in pertinent part that: "[t]he person shall be entitled to the rights guaranteed under the federal and State Constitutions for criminal proceedings. All proceedings shall be in accordance with applicable constitutional guarantees." (Pen. Code, \S 1026.5, subd. (b)(7).) Application of the statute to Petitioner is not repugnant to the general purview of the act, and there is no compelling reason to disregard the plain language. The statute does not limit or qualify this guarantee in any way. Moreover, the statute does not state that the individual does not have the right not to be compelled to testify. Had the Legislature intended that said right did not apply, it could have simply expressed this intent in words because "the words the Legislature chooses are the best expression of its intent" and the court is bound by the plain meaning of said words. (Joshua D., supra, 157 Cal.App.4th at p. 560; Kavanaugh v. West Sonoma County Union High School Dist. (2003) 29 Cal.4th 911, 919 [a statute's "plain" meaning controls" and nullifies the need to "resort to extrinsic sources to determine the Legislature's intent"].) Additionally, when this Court considers the statute as a whole, taking into account the overall statutory framework, it is clear that the Legislature was keenly aware that the process whereby an individual is recommitted is clearly adversarial in nature. As

such, the Legislature intended to afford Petitioner with the right not to be compelled to testify by including the above-referenced language in section 1026.5, subdivision (b)(7).

According to the statutory scheme, a person found not guilty of a felony offense by reason of insanity may not be kept in actual confinement for longer than the maximum state prison term for which the person could have been sentenced to. (Pen. Code, § 1026.5, subd. (a); People v. Crosswhite (2002) 101 Cal.App.4th 494, 501.) Nevertheless, at the end of the commitment period, the prosecution may petition the court to extend the commitment period if the individual, due to a mental disease, defect, or disorder represents a substantial danger of physical harm to others. (§ 1026.5, subd. (b)(1).) After the prosecution files said petition, the court must advise the individual named in the petition of the right to be represented by counsel and of the right to a jury trial. (§ 1026.5, subd. (b)(3).) The rules of discovery in criminal cases shall apply. (*Ibid.*) The court shall conduct a hearing on the petition for extended commitment and the trial shall be by a jury unless waived by both the individual and the prosecution. (§ 1026.5, subd. (b)(4).) The individual is entitled to the rights guaranteed under the federal and State Constitutions for criminal proceedings and all proceedings shall be in accordance with applicable constitutional guarantees. (§ 1026.5, subd. (b)(7).) If the individual is indigent, the County Public Defender shall be appointed. (Ibid.)

appointment of psychologists or psychiatrists shall be made in accordance with this article, Penal Code and Evidence Code provisions that are applicable to criminal defendants who have entered pleas of not guilty by reason of insanity. (*Ibid.*) If the court or jury finds that the individual, by reason of mental disease, defect, or disorder represents a substantial danger of physical harm to others, the court shall order the patient recommitted to the facility in which the patient was confined at the time the petition was filed. (§ 1026.5, subd. (b)(8).) Prior to termination of a commitment under this subdivision, subsequent petitions may be filed for recommitment to determine if the patient remains a person as described above. (§ 1026.5, subd. (b)(10).) Any commitment under this subdivision creates an affirmative obligation on the hospital or treatment facility to provide treatment for the underlying causes of the patient's mental disorder. (§ 1026.5, subd. (b)(11.)

Aside from the plain meaning of the statute, the Legislature has clearly evidenced its concerns for the individual who is potentially subject to a lifetime commitment in a locked state mental institution. Precedent has further enlightened the Legislature that the "actual consequences, not the label, of a proceeding determine whether fundamental rights are constitutionally mandated in that proceeding." (*Cramer, supra,* 23 Cal.3d at p. 145 (dis. opn. of Bird, J.).) "Commitment is incarceration against one's will, whether it is called 'criminal' or 'civil.' And our Constitution

guarantees that no person shall be 'compelled' to be a witness against himself when he is threatened with deprivation of his liberty..." (*In re Gault* (1967) 387 U.S. 1, 50 [18 L.Ed.2d 527, 87 S.Ct. 1428].)

Over thirty-eight years ago, this Court reminded the Legislature and lower courts of the reality behind civil commitments when it said, "[l]et us not deceive ourselves as to the nature of that institution..." because there can be no doubt that "commitment to a 'state hospital' results in a real deprivation of liberty." (*People v. Burnick* (1975) 14 Cal.3d 306, 319 (*Burnick*); *Humphrey v. Cady* (1972) 405 U.S. 504, 509 [31 L.Ed.2d 394, 402, 92 S.Ct. 1048] [individuals confined against their will for the treatment of a mental illness suffer a "massive curtailment of liberty"].)

As such, because the Legislature was keenly aware that the committee's liberty interest is at stake in section 1026.5 proceedings and that said proceedings are adversarial, the Legislature made it abundantly clear that the individual shall have the right to be represented by counsel and the right to a jury trial. (§ 1026.5, subd. (b)(3).) On the contrary, generally, indigent civil defendants have no such right to an appointed attorney. (*Hunt v. Hackett* (1973) 36 Cal.App.3d 134, 138.) The Court in *Hunt* further stated that:

² The Court in *Burnick* was referring to Atascadero State Hospital. Nevertheless, whether it is Atascadero State Hospital or Patton State Hospital as in the present case, it makes no difference. The individual's loss of liberty at either institution is the same.

The California Constitution (art. I, § 13) and the federal Constitution (6th Amend.) specifically provide for court-appointed counsel in criminal matters only. The constitutional safeguards applicable to criminal cases need not be met in all civil cases, but only in cases denominated as civil which are basically criminal in nature.

(Id. at. p. 137.)

Here, when this Court construes the statute as a whole, thereby harmonizing the various elements and considering each clause and section in the context of the overall statutory framework, it is clear that the Legislature intended to afford Petitioner with the right not to be compelled to testify.

III.

The Court of Appeal's Opinion that Petitioner Could Not be Compelled to Testify was Based Upon Precedent.

In reaching its opinion that Petitioner could not be compelled to testify at his recommitment trial, the Court of Appeal in *Hudec* relied upon precedent as set forth in *People v. Haynie* (2004) 116 Cal.App.4th 1224 (*Haynie*). In *Haynie*, the court was faced with the identical issue of whether the prosecution could compel the testimony of an individual who was facing recommitment pursuant to section 1026.5. Ultimately, the court concluded that section 1026.5, subdivision (b)(7) prohibited the prosecution from compelling the individual to testify at his recommitment trial. (*Id.* at p. 1230.) With regard to the plain meaning of section 1026.5, subdivision (b)(7), the court stated that:

[T]he Legislature's words clearly and unambiguously state the person "is entitled to the rights guaranteed under the federal and State Constitutions for criminal proceedings." A defendant in a criminal matter has an absolute right not to be called as a witness and not to testify. (U.S. Const., 5th Amend.; Cal. Const., art I, § 15; Evid. Code, § 930.) Under the plain language of the statute, because Haynie is entitled to the same rights guaranteed to a criminal defendant, he should not have been compelled to testify in the prosecution's case at his commitment extension trial.

(*Id.* at p. 1228.)

Nevertheless, the court in *Haynie* agreed with prior decisions, which held that section 1026.5, subdivision (b)(7) did not extend constitutional rights that "bear no relevant relationship to the proceedings." (*Haynie*, *supra*, 116 Cal.App.4th at p. 1229; quoting *Williams*, *supra*, 233 Cal.App.3d at p. 488.) In other words, the court in *Haynie* was well aware of the "relevancy" aspect of the particular right in question afforded to the committee based upon its interpretation of section 1026.5, subdivision (b)(7), and that said interpretation must not lead to an absurd result.

Likewise, the court in *Hudec* agreed with *Haynie's* interpretation of section 1026.5, subdivision (b)(7) and it also recognized that "several courts had not applied all the constitutional rights guaranteed for criminal proceedings in section 1026.5 trials." (*Hudec, supra,* 218 Cal.App.4th at p. 316; *Williams, supra,* 233 Cal.App.3d at p. 488 ["double jeopardy provisions have no meaningful application to extension proceedings which are civil in nature, are for the purpose of treatment, not punishment, and are

not an adjudication of a criminal act or offense, [therefore, said provisions] are not applicable to extension proceedings by virtue of the language of the statute"]; *People v. Powell* (2004) 114 Cal.App.4th 1153, 1158 [common sense dictates that the Legislature would not have afforded an insane person with the constitutional right to personal waiver of a jury trial, thereby vetoing counsel's informed tactical decision to waive jury].)

Nevertheless, with regard to the relevancy aspect of the constitutional right not to be compelled to testify as afforded by the language of section 1026.5, subdivision (b)(7), the court in *Haynie* said:

The right to not be compelled to testify against oneself is clearly and relevantly implicated when a person is called by the state to testify in a proceeding to recommit him or her even if what is said on the witness stand is not per se incriminating. By calling the person in its case-in-chief, the state is essentially saying that his or her testimony is necessary for the state to prove its case. We have no doubt that a committee so compelled to testify is prejudiced under these circumstances.

(Haynie, supra, 116 Cal.App.4th at p. 1230.)

Similarly, the court in *Hudec* agreed with *Haynie* and stated that its interpretation of section 1026.5, subdivision (b)(7) "does not contravene any legislative intent apparent in the statute, nor does it lead to an absurd result or consequences the Legislature could not have intended." (*Hudec, supra,* 218 Cal.App.4th at p. 324.) However, Real Party contends that *Hudec's* interpretation of section 1026.5, subdivision (b)(7) in fact leads to

absurd results. What is abundantly clear is that "[a]bsurdity, like beauty, is in the eye of the beholder." (*Unzueta, supra*, 6 Cal.App.4th at p. 1698.)

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